PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The parties will be referred to as they stood before the referee and the following symbols used:

- T Transcript of Grievance Hearing before the referee April 21, 1989
- TR- Transcript of Hearing on Recommendations as to Disciplinary measures June 16, 1989
- BAR EX. Florida Bar Exhibit
- RESP EX. Respondent's Exhibit

STATEMENT OF CASE

On December 6, 1988, Respondent, THOMAS P. COLCLOUGH was charged by complaint filed by the Florida Bar with violations of the following disciplinary rules:

Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(4) (a lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation); DR 1-102(A)(5) (a lawyer shall not engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice); and DR 1-102(A) (6) (a lawyer shall not engage in any other conduct that adversely reflects on his fitness to practice law).

Respondent filed response and defenses December 27, 1988 and the matter was scheduled for evidentiary hearing before Referee Paul E. Logan on April 21, 1989. (T-Volume 1)

Hearing on Recommendations as to Discipline was held by the referee on June 16, 1989. (TR 1-52).

Report of the referee was issued June 26, 1989, recommending Respondent be found guilty of all counts and recommended a fixed suspension of twelve months and thereafter until Respondent proves rehabilitation and pays court costs of \$2,070.63.

The Board of Governors of the Florida Bar

considered the referee's report at its meeting which terminated July 20, 1989. Petition to review the findings of facts and recommended discipline was filed August 2, 1989 pursuant to Rules of Discipline 3-7.6 Procedure before the Supreme Court of Florida.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 1, 1986, Sixth Judicial Circuit Judge, Fred Bryson entered a judgment in the case of Bonnie Lee Holmes, Petitioner vs Gordon B. Hustin, Respondent, determining certain property rights and division of a Charles Schwab investment account. The Court directed Hustin to pay to Holmes the sum of \$23,352.08 from said account. (BAR EX. 1) Thomas P. Colclough was attorney for Petitioner, Bonnie Lee Holmes in the litigation resulting in that judgment.

On August 14, 1986, Respondent, Colclough filed a Motion to Assess Costs in the <u>Holmes vs Hustin</u> matter attaching an affidavit for costs in the amount of \$4,666.50 and noticing the motion for hearing on September 24, 1986.

The motion, notice and affidavit were served upon Mr. Hustin's counsel, Ms. Margaret Barr. (BAR EX. 2)

After Sheriff's deputies were "knocking on the door for execution..." on the July 1 judgment, Ms. Barr filed a Motion to Stay Execution and Notice of Hearing on Friday, August 15, 1986, setting the matter for hearing before Judge Bryson three days later on Monday, August 18 (T-110-111)

As Ms. Barr was not going to be present for the August 18th hearing, she enlisted attorney Meredith Craig to attend in her place. (T-112)

Ms. Barr also asked attorney Elizabeth Mansfield, an appellate specialist engaged by Mr. Hustin, to attend because she ".... felt like Mr. Colclough

beared (sic) some watching..." (T-113) Ms. Craig testified that Ms. Mansfield went because "..... she was familiar with the files and she had met the client" (T-29) Ms. Craig testified that prior to the hearing on August 18, there was some settlement discussion at the courthouse between her and Mr. Colclough and she asked "what would this do to the September 24 hearing on costs? Would this get rid of it." And he said "yes". (T-32) Ms. Craig testified that during the hearing on the Motion to Stay when she discussed a stay on the"\$23,300 and something..." judgment Mr. Colclough stated execution was to be on a "...twenty eight thousand and something..." and that the difference "...was from a judgment that they had gotten for costs in the amount of \$4,666.50." (T-37)

Ms. Craig stated she questioned the \$4,666.50 figure because it was the same figure on the cost affidavit for the September 24 hearing she had previously seen in the file. She testified that Mr. Colclough said "that's a different cost hearing. This one is one we've already done." (T38)

Ms. Craig replied that "I think I qualified it and said I have no problem with these figures provided there is that previously entered judgment for that four thousand six hundred some dollars." (T-40) Ms. Craig testified that immediately following the August 18th hearing Mr. Colclough handed her the judgment for costs entered August 18, the Amended Notice of Hearing on costs set for August 18 and execution. (BAR EX. 3 - pages one and two and BAR EX. 5)

Ms. Elizabeth Mansfield testified that Ms. Barr asked her to go to the hearing "....because I was more familiar with the file" (T-76) and that she had reviewed the ..."file"... and ..."record"... (T-76) Further Ms. Mansfield was aware of Mr. Colclough's Motion to Assess Costs prior to the August 18 hearing. (T-77) Ms. Mansfield testified:

> A. Yes, Ms. Craig asked him what cost judgment he was talking about, where that four thousand and some thousand dollars came from. That she --she thought there was a hearing on that scheduled in September. And he said, no, this was something else that he had already gotten a cost judgment for this amount. I was also thinking too--wondering where this amount came from, and was, I think, looking through the file trying to locate something.

Q. All right. What comments did the judge make in reference to the total amount of the execution that was going to be stayed or in reference to the total amount of bond that would have to be posted?

A. The judge ordered a total bond of thirtyfour thousand dollars, which included the twenty-three thousand in the final judgment, the forty-six hundred for costs, plus double the statutory rate of interest.

Q. All right. At any time during the hearing did you object to the judge considering the \$4,666.50 as part of the total amount of money to be bonded?

A. I personally did not object. Ms. Craig repeatedly asked where this figure came from. However, since Mr. Colclough said he already had a judgment for that amount, and the judge ordered that he would be computing the bond based on a total amount of twenty-eight thousand. That was the end of it.

(T - 83, 84)

Ms. Mansfield further testified:

He and Ms. -- let me back up a moment. He and Ms. Craig were discussing where exact figures on the supersedeas bond. He was trying to explain that to Ms. Craig. I asked him again, where did you get this judgment for forty-six hundred dollars? I didn't know about it. Where did it come from?

And at that point he handed me the judgment for cost for forty-six hundred dollars and a writ of execution in the same amount, which were dated that date.

(T-85) (Emphasis supplied)

Ms. Mansfield testified that she received the copy from Mr. Colclough (Cost judgment entered August 18, 1989) with Judge Bryson's stamp. (T-86)

On cross examination by Respondent Colclough's

attorney Ms. Mansfield testified:

Q. Okay. And certainly there would be no cost judgment entered in advance of a final judgment?

A. No, correct.

Q. And the final judgment was entered in July?

A. Correct.

Q. The month previous?

A Correct.

Q. And there was no intervening judgment for costs?

A. Correct.

Q. So --

A. Yeah, that I was aware of.

Q. That you were aware of. And certainly had there been a judgment for costs entered prior to a final judgment on the merits, that would have been highly unusual?

A. Correct.

Q. So you get to this hearing and the subject of this cost judgment comes up at the hearing and you and Ms. Craig rely upon representaton by Mr. Colclough that there had been a previous cost judgment entered, is that your testimony?

A. Unfortunately, that is my testimony.

(T - 95, 96)

On August 25, 1986, Ms. Margaret Barr filed a Motion to Vacate the Cost Judgment of August 18 (BAR EX. 11 A.B.C.)

Judge Bryson set aside the cost judgment at a hearing on August 29, 1986 (BAR EX. 12) and the matter was reset for hearing on December 15, 1986. (BAR EX. 14) That hearing did not reach the merits due to Mr. Hustin's filing bankruptcy. (BAR EX. 14)

At the hearing on December 15, 1986, Respondent Colclough advised the Court:

> Now, the problem is there can't be a hearing today because of the bankruptcy stay. The allegation relates to my subsequently getting a second money judgment against Mr. Hustin for the costs. If you would recall what had happened here originally was Mrs. Barr came into the case and filed a motion for stay of execution. I had a money judgment for \$23,352.08. I had that judgment August 26. Margaret filed -- or Margaret had a hearing August the 18th to stay that judgment. Margaret gave me notice of hearing on the 15th, which was a proceeding Friday, so I had previous a motion for costs scheduled for September the 24th. The motion for costs would be for somewhat in excess of four thousand dollars. I had gotten short-

timed on a hearing; Margaret didn't come. I think Elizabeth Mansfield came along with Meredith Craig. So I did my cost hearing at the same time -- you'll get your shot, ma'am. BAR EX. 14, pages 2 and 3

* * *

...because there's an allegation of fraud out here on the part of Margaret Barr. She's made an allegation of fraud and I don't want an allegation running around like that because they're not good things to have running around. BAR EX. 14 page 4

* * *

...and then the remaining issue would be whether or not Margaret Barr would be entitled -- she has a motion for an attorney's fees because she's saying there's been a fraud committed upon the Court and obviously there hasn't been as I've explained it to you today. You know what the circumstances were. BAR EX. 14 page 4 and 5

Respondent Colclough, at the December 15 hearing

asked:

Can you go ahead and at least for future reference state at least for the purposes of our reporter that you are aware of how these hearings came about to kill them?

THE COURT: All I have is a recollection of a series of very quick hearings.

MR. COLCLOUGH: That's correct.

THE COURT: Now, what happened, I don't remember. I hear I don't know how many of these things a month. All right.

(BAR EX. 14, page 6)

At the grievance hearing Judge Fred Bryson testified:

Q. Can you, sir, testify directly for his Honor one way or the other as to whether or not any document was presented to you for signature in the matter of Holmes versus Hustin at any time prior to the commenencement of or after the conclusion of that hearing on August 18?

A. Yes, sir, there was none.

(T - 139)

Judge Bryson further testified with regard to the

August 18 hearing:

The Parties appeared. I do have a recollection of the fact that Mr. Colclough sat there to my left and the two ladies, Ms. Craig and the other lady's name I don't remember, sat to her right. They discussed the entry of a stay or supersedeas, at which time Mr. Colclough indicated that he had some time -- it was either in the next week or the week following to have a motion heard for a judgment entered for the taxation of the cost, the cost figure was either in the mid three thousands or mid four thousands, which would seem to be somewhat abnormal.

But I think what we had involved here was an attempt by -- by the lady to, through the use of appraisers, to establish the values of the property to bring to my attention sufficient facts necessary from which I could make an equitable decision (sic) of the property.

Mr. Colclough suggested that even if he had the time set in the week or the week after, was there any reason that we couldn't hear that cost that morning. I recall there being no objection.

I can further say this, that had there been one we would have not had that hearing that morning. We would have had it at a later date. Because I have, throughout my professional career, been in the courtroom and I never like to see people lose by default. I signed the costs judgment. My recollection I did some arithmetic and told the ladies that were there what it would take in amount of money, bond, or whatever they chose to post in the form of a supersedeas or a stay then included amount of the cost judgment.

If I'm not mistaken the money judgment was either twenty, thirty thousand dollars, somewhere in that neighborhood, and the cost of course in addition to it.

It was signed, it being the cost judgment was signed, and having seen a copy of that judgment since then I can ninetynine and forty-four one hundred percent pure say that it was not conformed by me. It was conformed by my secretary whose office is immediately adjacent to mine. I say this because my conforming stamp is in the form of a script and her's in a block conforming stamp appears on the copy of that cost judgment.

(T-142-144) (Emphasis supplied)

and

Now, whether these ladies fully understood, I don't know. My recollection was that they were sent over there for one purpose, and then were -- now, we have two purposes, and what they fully understood or didn't understand, I don't know.

But certainly if they felt they had been short sheeted all it would have taken would have been a vocalization of that feeling and everything would have stopped and we would have dealt with it at another time when they felt that they were more fully informed to cope with it.

(T-150)

Judge Bryson's affidavit (RESP EX. 1)

reflected:

There was no representations by Mr. Colclough of a previously obtained judgment in the amount of \$4,666.50; there was no misconduct or misrepresentations by Mr. Colclough in any manner in that hearing and the Motion to Tax Costs and judgment thereon was entered after affording attorneys for Mr. Hustin to voice any objection they may have had.

Respondent Thomas P. Colclough testified as to

the litigation between Holmes-Hustin as follows:

A. Judge, just very briefly, the parties had been living together from a period of 1980 until 1985. They had acquired, and God love them for it, a tremendous amount of real estate through the use of capital gains that existed at that time, various shelter provisions. There came a point in 1985 where their relationship terminated.

Mrs. Holmes came to see me. More properly, Mrs. Holmes came to see my partner, Jim Wallace. Jim had referred her to me.

And under a theory of -- alternate theories of declaratory judgment, and/or constructive trust, and/or a quantum merit theory I was able to state a cause of action, did the appropriate discovery, had a full blown trial, a final judgment was rendered by Judge Bryson on July the 8th, 1986. (sic July 1, 1986)

Essentially Judge Bryson divvied up the property and gave to Mrs. Holmes a judgment in the amount of \$23,352.08.

(T-182-183)

It was on Friday, August 15, that Respondent received Ms. Barr's Motion to Stay and Notice of Hearing setting Monday, August 18, 1986 for hearing on that Motion (T-186) He stated he felt the short notice improper in that Ms. Barr did not clear the Monday hearing time with his office. (T-187)

As to the presentation of the cost motion on August

18, Respondent Colclough stated:

And I told Mrs. Holmes that we should in fact have our cost hearing at that time. The reason we should do it, your Honor, would be so that Mr. Hustin could post supersedeas in one amount and so I did not have to come back before Judge Bryson on September the 24th, 1986.

Your Honor, if I had had to come back before Judge Bryson I would have been faced with dual procedures, the duality that I specifically refer to, and -- would be, your Honor, that I would have had to force Mr. Hustin to post a supersedeas bond in the amount of \$23,352.08 plus an additional \$5,604.50 for his stay on the money judgment and he would have had to post another supersedeas bond after September the 24th, 1986 for the \$4,666.50 plus two times the legal rate of interest \$1,119.96. I said let's clean up, get it done at one time.

(T-189-190)

* * *

No, I had no, absolutely no knowledge Α. when I went to that hearing that I would see Meredith Craig or Ms. Mansfield. Т fully expected to see Margaret Barr. And in fact, your Honor, my Amended Notice of Hearing that indicates that I would bring on to be heard on August the 18th my cost monies -- or my cost hearing previously scheduled for September the 24th, 1986 would reflect a certificate of service to Margaret Barr of August the 18th, 1986 by hand delivery. The reason is I fully expected when I went to the fourth floor, Judge Bryson's chambers, or more specificially the courthouse that I would run into Margaret Barr but I did not.

(T-191)

A. Certainly. Your Honor, prior to going in to see Judge Bryson I met with Meredith Craig. I told Meredith Craig that I would be accelerating the hearing for September the 24th, 1986, and I would be seeking that the Judge entertain that motion and that hearing right now. I made that clear, there was no doubt in my mind whatsoever that that was made fully clear.

* * *

(T- 192)

* * *

And I asked the judge, I said, "Your Honor, so I'm cutting back in here wasting everybody's time let's do the cost hearing of four thousand six sixty-six fifty. If you total up those sums they come to \$28,018.58. And then if you calculate the supersedeas on that that comes to thirty-four thousand seven forty-three oh four. I made it abundantly clear I'm not going to come back and waste everybody's time and money. Let's just do it all at the same time.

Judge Bryson specifically asked if Meredith Craig or Ms. Mansfield had any objections. No objection whatsoever was voiced at that time.

Judge Bryson granted the stay of execution. He orally granted it and he said that the amount of the stay would be calculated on the original money judgment in the amount of twenty-three thousand three fifty-two oh eight.

And, your Honor, he did in fact, in my presence and in the presence of the two attorneys, sign a money judgment in amount of \$4,666.50. He did in fact in my presence and the presence of the other two attorneys did in fact sign a motion or a writ of execution on that particular sum of money. He did in fact inform all three attorneys that he would entertain the stay and grant the stay with the supersedeas and the proper amount was posted.

(T-193-194)



A. Absolutely not. There was no previously obtained cost judgment. I had a straight forward final judgment entered July the lst, 1986 with a part of that judgment in addition to a division of property being a judgment in the amount of twenty-three thousand three fifty-two oh eight.

I had a cost hearing set for September the 24th, 1986, which was perhaps six weeks away from when I was present. These were all of the judgments that this case dealt with. There was nothing for me to represent to the court that there had been some previously obtained judgment in the amount of \$4,666.50. That statement, I wouldn't make that statement because it makes no sense.

(T-195-196)

The referee in his report dated June 26, 1989

found, inter alia,

M. Mr. Colclough fraudently represented to Ms. Craig, Ms. Mansfield and Judge Bryson that a hearing on costs had already been held, that a Money Judgment for costs had already been obtained, and that the Cost Hearing scheduled for September 24, 1986 was for something else.

* * *

Q. As a result of Mr. Colclough's representation that a Cost Judgment in the amount of \$4,666.50 had already been obtained, these costs were added to the previously ordered Money Judgment of \$23,352.00, and a proposed Order for a supersedeas bond in the amount of the two sums, plus interest, for a total of \$34,733.00 was prepared for the Court by Mr. Colclough.

R. Immediately following the hearing on August 18, 1986, Mr. Colclough gave attorneys Mansfield and Craig an executed copy of a Money Judgment for costs and Execution for the sum of \$4,666.50. In addition, Mr. Colclough submitted to Ms. Craig an Amended Notice of Hearing which provided that the Motion to Assess Costs scheduled for September 24, 1986, would be heard August 18, 1986.

* * *

T. No hearing had been held on the Motion to Assess Costs at the time Mr. Colclough obtained the aforementioned Money Judgment for costs and the Execution.

Based upon the report findings the referee recommended a twelve month suspension and thereafter until Respondent proved rehabilitation.

At the hearing on recommendations as to disciplinary measures Respondent submitted character references from area attorneys and Circuit Judge Thomas E. Penick as to Mr. Colclough's character and legal ability. St. Petersburg Attorney, James D. Eckert, attorney and former Circuit Judge Michael N. Athanason, Pinellas Sheriff and attorney, Everett Rice, Respondent's wife and Respondent testified as to Respondent's character.

Thomas P. Colclough has been married 12 years. He became employed with Howard County Police Force in 1973, at age 19. He attended the Police Academy in 1975, graduated, became a patrolman and later a detective. While employed in law enforcement Mr. Colclough obtained a two year enforcement and a four year degree in business from University of Maryland. (TR-23) Mr. Colclough was cited for significant service in his police work. (TR-27)

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