IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. 73,404 TFB No. 87,25,562(06A)

vs .

THOMAS COLCLOUGH,

Respondent.

COMPLAINANT'S ANSWER BRIEF

SEP 20 1989

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Deputy Clerk

Richard A. Greenberg
Assistant Staff Counsel
Atty. No. 382371
The Florida Bar
Tampa Airport, Marriott Hotel
Suite C-49
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813) 875-9821

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- I. This case involved a pure credibility contest between complainant's witnesses and respondent and his witnesses. The referee, as the trier of fact, was in the best position to judge the credibility of the witnesses. There has been no showing that the referee's findings are clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support.
- II. Prior decisions of this Court and, particularly, the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions support a one (1) year suspension in this case.

ARGUMENT

I. THERE HAS BEEN NO SHOWING THAT THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS ARE CLEARLY ERRONEOUS OR LACKING IN EVIDENTIARY SUPPORT.

The referee's findings of fact are entitled to the same presumption of correctness as the judgment of the trier of fact in a civil proceeding. (Rule 3-7.5 (k) (1), Rules of Discipline). In
The Florida Bar v. Hooper">Hooper, 509 So.2d 289,290 (Fla. 1987), this Court stated the standard by which it will review a referee's findings of fact:

not in the nature of a trial de novo in which the Court must be satisfied that the evidence is clear and convincing. The responsibility for finding facts and resolving conflicts in the evidence is placed with the referee. The Florida Bar v. Hoffer, 383 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1980). The referee's findings "should not be overturned unless clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support." The Florida Bar v. Wagner, 212 So.2d 770, 722 (Fla. 1968).

The present case involved a pure question of credibility between complainant's witnesses and respondent and his witnesses. The presumption of correctness of the trier of fact in resolving matters of credibility should preclude this Court from reweighing the evidence and substituting its judgment for that of the referee. Hooper, at 291.

A reading of respondent's argument in Issue I indicates

respondent is only attacking certain findings of fact made by the referee, as opposed to the entire findings contained in Section II of the Report of Referee. The paragraphs specifically addressed by respondent in his Initial Brief are paragraphs M,N,P,R,S, and Z.

The referee's finding in II-M, Report of Referee, that respondent fraudulently represented that a hearing on costs had already been held, that a money judgment for costs had already been obtained, and that the cost hearing scheduled for September 24, 1986, was for something else is clearly supported by the testimony of Ms. Craig and Ms. Mansfield. Ms. Craig testified as follows:

- "And I asked him where the other money came from. And he said this was all done in the courtroom. And he said that it was from a judgment that they had gotten for costs in the amount of \$4,666.50.
- Q. Did Mr. Colclough show you any judgment at that time?
- A. No, I don't--in all fairness, I don't remember whether I asked to see a copy of it. I just--the figure jumped had out [sic] at me because it was the one on the affidavit for the September 24 hearing. And I had looked at that and we had mentioned it in the hall.
 - And I said, "That hearing-that hearing is not supposed to take place until September." He said, "That's a different cost hearing. This one is one we've already done.'' (T-37, line 19 through page 38, line 10).
- Q. What did Mr. Colclough say when you brought up the

forty-six hundred dollars again?

A. He said that's a cost—twice he said that that has already been adjudicated. That is a cost we already have and that was done before. I did at some point lean over and ask Ms. Mansfield if she knew about any cost hearing. At that point in time she had not seen the court file herself or gone through it carefully and she did not know. (T-39, lines 13 through 21). (Emphasis supplied).

The foregoing testimony of Ms. Craig is consistent with the affidavit she executed on August 22, 1986, four (4) days after the hearing on the Motion to Stay Execution. (Bar Ex. 11-B).

Ms. Mansfield's testimony also supports the referee's finding of fact in paragraph II-M:

When Meredith mentioned the amount of the judgment Mr. Colclough said something to the effect that the amount in question is--was not twenty-three thousand and some dollars but was I think twenty-eight thousand because he also had a cost judgment of four thousand six hundred and sixty some dollars. (T-82, lines 11 through 16).

- Q. Okay. Were you aware of any prior cost judgment having been entered for that amount?
- A. No, it was not.
- Q. All right. Was any question asked of Mr. Colclough in reference to that judgment?
- A. Yes, Ms. Craig asked him what cost judgment he was talking about, where that four thousand and some thousand dollars came from. That she--she thought there was a hearing on that scheduled in September. And he said, no, this was something else that he had already gotten a cost judgment for this amount. I was also-thinking too--wondering where this amount came from, and was, I think, looking through the file trying to locate something. (T-82, line

22 through page 83, line 10). (emphasis supplied).

The foregoing testimony of Ms. Mansfield is consistent with the affidavit she executed on August 22, 1986. (Bar Ex. 11-C).

As shown above, the finding that respondent fraudulently represented that a prior cost hearing was held and a judgment was obtained is consistent with both Ms. Craig's and Ms. Mansfield's testimony. Since both attorneys had merely reviewed Ms. Barr's file in preparation for attending the hearing on the Motion to Stay Execution, they relied upon the representation by respondent that he had already obtained a cost judgment in the amount of \$4,666.50. Ms. Craig relied upon respondent's representation because she "never believed anyone would tell me something like that if it had not happened.'' (T-53, lines 1 and 2). Ms.

Mansfield also "naively" relied on respondent's representations. (T-97, line 7).

Respondent argues that the finding of the referee that Ms. Craig and Ms. Mansfield were unfamiliar with the Holmes v. Hustin case is inconsistent with the record and those attorneys professed familiarity with that record. In fact, Ms. Craig's and Ms. Mansfield's unfamiliarity with the case is not inconsistent with the review of the file undertaken by these attorneys. Ms. Craig had only reviewed Ms. Barr's file, and not the court file, in preparation for the hearing on the Motion to Stay Execution.

(T-26, line 19 and page 27, line 18). Ms. Mansfield had only reviewed the file to assist in appealing the final judgment. (Bar Ex. 1). (T-39, lines 19 through 21).

The whole point is that respondent fraudulently represented that he had already obtained a cost judgment and that the hearing scheduled for September 24, 1986 would be for "something else". As shown above, both Ms. Mansfield and Ms. Craig relied upon that representation and accepted respondent's statement. There was no evidence presented before the referee that the court file in Holmes v. Hustin was reviewed by Ms. Craig or Ms. Mansfield during the hearing on August 18, 1986 to verify the respondent's representation.

Respondent next argues that the finding in paragraph II-R of the Report of Referee raises the question as to why Ms. Craig and Ms. Mansfield did not object after the August 18, 1986 hearing. Both Ms. Craig and Ms. Mansfield clearly stated the reason they did not voice any objection to respondent when he gave them copies of a money judgment for costs and execution. Ms. Craig testified as follows:

"And while we were doing that he handed me some papers.

- Q. And did you look at them at that time?
- A. Not at that time. I believe he said please give these to Margaret or something. And I was still reading and I handed them to Elizabeth who was standing next to me to hang onto. (T-41, lines 11 through 17). (emphasis supplied).

- Q. After the hearing did you in fact look at the documents--
- A. Yes.
- Q. --that you had been handed?
- A. I know I had looked at them by the time we were in the elevator because I remember the discussion was initiated—I remember—1 don't know if it was initiated but I know we discussed them in the elevator, I remember that, prior to that I don't remember. (T-41, line 23 through page 42, line 6).

I didn't think that much about it at the time. And I didn't take them with me. And I gave them all to Elizabeth so I didn't have them that long to really study them afterwards.

- Q. At any point after the hearing did you realize that there was something wrong that happened at the hearing?
- A. Yes, we had--1 discussed that with Elizabeth and Mr. Hustin. I was asking both of them again if they could recall any prior hearing on judgment--requesting a judgment in that amount for costs. Mr. Hustin did not remember, but I don't think he understood what I was asking him.

And Ms. Mansfield said at that point, "I'll go through the court file and I'll go through Margaret's things again but I don't recall any prior hearing."

And the thing that—the thing—the only thing that we thought was odd at the time in addition to the Amended Notice of Hearing on the costs, which we didn't understand, was why it had that day's date on it, and why there would be an execution on something that was only reduced to judgment on that date at that time.

But we <u>assumed</u> there had been a hearing some place. At the time that we parted we both assumed that there had been a hearing on costs at some point in the past prior to the time that I saw the final

judgment in the file I didn't go back prior to that time. (T-43, line 10 through page 44, line 13). (emphasis supplied).

It was only after Ms. Barr returned to town and discussed the events of August 18, 1986, with Ms. Craig that Ms. Craig realized "something slimy went down." (T-63, line 7).

Ms. Mansfield testified as follows:

- Q. All right. At any time during the hearing did you object to the judge considering the \$4,666.50 as part of the total amount of money to be bonded?
- A. I personally did not object. Ms. Craig repeatedly asked where this figure came from. However, since Mr. Colclough said he already had a judgment for that amount, and the judge ordered that he would be computing the bond based on a total amount of twenty-eight thousand. That was the end of it. (T-83, line 19 through page 84, line 2).
- Q. You did not object at any time to the inclusion of the forty-six six fifty into the total amount?
- A. Did I say I object, no.
- Q. And why is that or is there any reason why you did not object?
- A. Because at the time I assumed that Mr. Colclough would not say that if it were not true. (T-84, lines 11 through 18). (emphasis supplied).

It is interesting that the respondent now argues it would be reasonable for either Ms. Craig or Ms. Mansfield to "immediately and indignantly revisit Judge Bryson for correction and clarification" after the hearing of August 18, 1986. As the record shows, both Ms. Craig and Ms. Mansfield filed affidavits

which were attached to Respondent's Motion to Vacate Money
Judgment for Costs which clearly accused respondent of fraud,
misrepresentation and other misconduct. (Bar Ex. 11(A),(B),and
(C). Respondent did not "immediately and indignantly" contact
either Ms. Mansfield or Ms. Craig to voice any objection to their
affidavits. In fact, respondent never contacted either Ms. Craig
or Ms. Mansfield (T-90, line 8). In addition, the respondent
never contacted Ms. Barr to complain about her allegations of
fraud. (T-116, line 10 and lines 14 and 15).

While it is true that the testimony of Judge Bryson and the respondent is consistent with Bar Exhibits 6,7,8 and 9 which show that a cost issue was raised at the August 18, 1986 hearing, the sole issue is exactly what costs were discussed at the hearing. The referee obviously believed the testimony of Ms. Craig and Ms. Mansfield and did not believe the respondent and Judge Bryson.

Respondent's chief witness, Judge Bryson, was impeached on a key point. In his affidavit (Resp. Ex. 1) Judge Bryson testified in paragraph 7 as follows:

[&]quot;At that time, I inquired as to whether there was any reason why a judgment in the amount of \$4,666.50 should not be entered and, there being no objection, I signed the money judgment affording Mr. Hustin a stay of execution for five (5) days in order to post Supersedeas bond...which was the subject of the Motion for Stay of Execution scheduled for that morning". (emphasis supplied).

During the hearing before the referee, however, the following exchange occurred between counsel for complainant and Judge Bryson:

- Q. So is it your recollection that on the morning of August 18, 1986 you signed a motion granting the stay of execution?
- A. For five days.
- Q. I'd like to show you Bar's Exhibit Number 10, and if you will note it's dated August 21, 1986, so does that affect your recollection of whether or not you signed that order on the morning of August 18 or three days later?
- A. Well, if it's dated the 21st chances are I signed it the 21st, which probably ended up giving them eight days as opposed to five. (T-157, line 17 page 158, line 3).

The referee was in the best position to observe Judge Bryson's appearance and demeanor.

The bias of Judge Bryson was also evident during the hearing. Judge Bryson testified as follows:

"If he [referring to respondent] tells me something is in a pleading I don't bother reading it." (T-149, lines 1 and 2).

If Mr. Colclough told me that there was a hurricane raging outside I wouldn't bother looking out the window. (T-149, lines 14 through 16).

Judge Bryson was further impeached by his inability to recall the events of the August 18, 1986 hearing in December 1986 (Bar Ex. 14, page 6) versus his recall of events in his affidavit (Resp. Ex. 1) versus his testimony before the referee wherein he was able to recall certain events which occurred on the morning of August 18, 1986 and was unable to recall other events. (T-153, line 2).

The respondent's testimony consisted of a pure denial of committing fraud or misrepresentation. The referee judged respondent's credibility versus the credibility of Meredith Craig and Elizabeth Mansfield. The referee's decision to believe the testimony of Meredith Craig and Elizabeth Mansfield cannot be considered clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support.

Respondent argues the referee's finding in paragraph II-P,
Report of Referee, that no orders were signed by the judge during
the hearing is not supported by clear and convincing evidence.

The testimony of the complainant's two main witnesses, however,
clearly supports the referee's finding. The respondent has cited
a portion of Ms. Craig's testimony in regard to this issue, but
has conveniently omitted the remainder of Ms. Craig's testimony
wherein she stated:

I did not preview any order for him to sign, for one thing, which would normally happen. (T-40, lines 22 through 24).

Respondent has also omitted a significant portion of Ms.

Mansfield's testimony in regard to the issue of whether Judge

Bryson signed any orders during the August 18, 1986 hearing. Ms.

Mansfield testified:

- Q. Did you see Judge Bryson execute any documents or orders during the hearing?
- A. No, I did not. (T-84, lines 19 through 21).

The respondent next argues that the referee did not make a specific finding that Judge Bryson was not to be believed. While it is true that the referee did not make a specific finding in this regard, it is implicit from the findings which were made by the referee that he rejected Judge Bryson's testimony. Judge Bryson supported the respondent's testimony. The referee rejected the respondent's testimony. As noted above, the referee was in the best position to observe the demeanor and judge the credibility of the witnesses. It is also significant that Judge Bryson had no recall of the August 18, 1986 hearing just a few months after the incident (Bar Ex. 14, page 6), yet three years later he supposedly has a clear recall of the events which took place in a short, routine hearing.

The remaining referee findings challenged by the respondent are also supported by clear and convincing evidence.

Paragraph II-R is supported by both Ms. Mansfield's testimony (T-42, lines 9 through 12) and by Ms. Craig's testimony. (T-85, lines 17 through 20).

Paragraph II-S is supported by Bar Ex. 6,7 and 8. Finally, paragraph II-Z of the Report of Referee is supported by Bar Ex. 14, page 6.

ARGUMENT

11. A ONE YEAR SUSPENSION AND THEREAFTER UNTIL RESPONDENT SHALL
PROVE REHABILITATION IS THE
APPROPRIATE SANCTION FOR CONDUCT
INVOLVING DISHONESTY, DECEIT, OR
MISREPRESENTATION, CONDUCT THAT
IS PREJUDICIAL TO THE ADMINISTRATION
OF JUSTICE AND CONDUCT THAT ADVERSELY
REFLECTS ON RESPONDENT'S FITNESS TO
PRACTICE LAW.

A one year suspension and thereafter until respondent shall prove rehabilitation is the appropriate sanction for engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, deceit or misrepresentation, conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice and conduct that adversely reflects on respondent's fitness to practice law. This sanction is necessary to protect the public and the administration of justice from an attorney who failed to discharge his professional duties. Standard 1.1, Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.

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